

# **Elective Home Education**

Policy and Procedures

# **Contents**

In	troduction	3
Policy Principles		3
1	Parents' Rights and Responsibilities	4
	Non-Registered Children	4
	Off-Rolling Pupils	5
2	The Headteacher's Duty	5
3	The Local Authority's Duty	6
	Education Health and Care Plan	6
	Safeguarding	7
4	The Role of the Local Authority	8
5	Access and Engagement Service Elective Home Education Procedure	9
6	Post Statutory School Age (Youth & Careers Service)	11
7	School Attendance Orders (SAO)	11

#### Introduction

This policy aims to inform schools, parents, local authority advisors and other related agencies about the policy and procedures to be followed where parents or carers make the choice to educate their children otherwise than at school, usually at home. This practice is known as Elective Home Education (EHE). The term "parent" is used throughout this policy to include all those with parental responsibility.

Elective Home Education (EHE) is the term used by the Department for Education (DfE) to describe the education provided by parents at home, rather than providing education for their children by sending them to school. This is different to home tuition provided by a Local Authority or education provided by a Local Authority other than at a school. It is recognised that parents may choose home education for a variety of reasons and deliver it in a variety of ways.

## **Policy Principles**

The Local Authority respects the rights of parents and carers to elect to educate their children at home and recognises that there are many approaches to educational provision and that all children should be involved in a learning process.

#### The LA aims to:

- Work to promote positive relationships and mutual respect with parents for the benefit and educational well-being of children.
- Provide an effective, efficient and supportive service.

This policy document applies to those children whose parents or guardians have chosen to educate their children at home. It does not refer to children who have a home tutor provided by the LA.

This document sets out parents' rights to educate their children at home and their responsibilities, the legal duties and responsibilities of Head teachers and the LA.

It also sets out the arrangements Islington Access and Engagement Service will make in order to carry out its legal duties under Sections 437 – 443 Education Act 1996 i.e. if it appears that a child of compulsory school age is not receiving education suitable to age, ability, aptitude and special needs, to take steps to ensure that this is remedied:

"If it appears to a local education authority that a child of compulsory school age in their area is not receiving suitable education, either by regular attendance at school or otherwise, they shall serve a notice in writing on the parent requiring him to satisfy them within the period specified in the notice that the child is receiving such education." (Education Act 1996, Section 437)

Section 437(2) of the Act provides that the period shall be not less than 15 days beginning with the day on which the notice is served.

### 1 Parents' Rights and Responsibilities

- 1.1 The law states it is the duty of parents to ensure the education of their children.

  Parents may choose to educate their children at home instead of sending them to school.
- 1.1 The parents' legal duty is set out in Section 7 of the Education Act 1996 as follows: "The parent of every child of compulsory school age (5 16) shall cause him/her to receive efficient full-time education suitable (a) to his/her age, ability and aptitude, and (b) to any special educational needs he/she may have either by regular attendance at school or otherwise."
- 1.2 The European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, Article 2 of Protocol No 1 also supports this by stating:

  "No person shall be denied the right to education. In the exercise of any functions which it assumes in relation to education and to teaching, the State shall respect the right of parents to ensure such education and teaching in conformity with their own religious and philosophical convictions."
- 1.3 An "efficient" and "suitable" education is not defined in the Education Act 1996 but "efficient" has been broadly described in case law as an education that "achieves that which it sets out to achieve", and a "suitable" education is one that "primarily equips a child for life within the community of which he is a member, rather than the way of life in the country as a whole, as long as it does not foreclose the child's options in later years to adopt some other form of life if he wishes to do so".
- 1.4 If parents decide to return their child to a mainstream school they should continue with existing education arrangements until a place becomes available at one of their preferred schools. Their child's admission application will be considered in line with the school's admission arrangements, and not prioritised above those on the waiting list.

#### Non-Registered Children

- 1.5 When a child is not a registered pupil at a school the parent is not required to:
  - Seek permission to elect to home educate their chid
  - Take the initiative in informing the LA.
  - Have regular contact with the LA.
  - Meet with the LA.

However, the LA encourages contact with all home educating families and may make enquiries with the parents to establish that a suitable education is being provided. Parents are under no duty to respond to such enquiries, but it would be sensible for them to do so. (Philips v Brown, 1980, QB 424/78)

#### Off-Rolling Pupils

- 1.6 Parents whose child is enrolled at a school are advised to write to the Headteacher to inform them that they elect to home educate, unless:
  - a) the school is a special school named on the child's Education, Health & Care Plan, in which case parents are required to seek approval from the Local Authority first.
  - b) where a child is enrolled at a school in accordance with a school attendance order when the authority must revoke the order (or amend it to replace the school with a different school) before the child can be removed from the roll.
- 1.7 If a parent does not inform the Headteacher in writing a child may remain on roll and the parent may be liable to prosecution for non-attendance. (dfe, EHE Guidance to LA, April 2019)

# 2 The Headteacher's Duty

- 2.1 When a parent notifies a school they are considering home education, it is important that parents are fully informed of the expectations and implications of home educating before committing to making this important decision. The local authority recommends that parents are given contact details and advised to seek advice from the Access and Engagement Service (AES) before formally asking the school to remove the child from the school roll.
- 2.2 Schools must not seek to persuade parents to educate their child at home, nor would it be recommended for parents to elect to educate their children at home as a way of solving a perceived or ongoing problem for a school. In such situations both school and parents should be able to obtain advice and support from Access and Engagement Service (AES).
- 2.3 In accordance with Education (Pupil Registration) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2016, it is the duty of the Headteacher to notify the LA of all pupil deletion from the admission register, this includes when a school receives formal, written notification from a parent, that their child is being removed from school in order to be home educated and the child has ceased to attend the school. Section 5, paragraph 6 of the Regulation states, "where the name of a pupil is to be deleted from the admission register, the proprietor must make a return to the local authority for that pupil as soon as the ground for deletion under regulation 8 is met in relation to that pupil, and in any event no later than the time at which the pupil's name is deleted from the register."
- 2.4 However, in the interest of the child, recommended good practice would be to allow a period of 20 school days after deletion of the name from the school register, for the parents to reflect on their decision having sought further advice and support to change their mind if they so wish. If the parents' decision is firmly to home educate the child will be recorded on a register kept by Islington Access and Engagement Service of children being home educated.
- 2.5 If a child attends a special school then his/her name cannot be removed from roll until the LA gives permission confirming that the child's special educational needs are being addressed.

- The Education (Pupil Registration) (England) Regulations 2006 Regulation 8(2) states: "A child who has under arrangements made by a local education authority become a registered pupil at a special school shall not be removed from the admission register of that school without the consent of that authority, or if that authority refuse to give consent, without a direction of the Secretary of State."
- 2.6 The school should provide an up to date record of the child's attainment to the LA and it should be copied to both parents. This is to enable the LA and the parents to use this assessment in drawing up an education plan and drawing on support from the LA.

## 3 The Local Authority's Duty

- 3.1 The LA wish is to see every child reach their full potential and be available for parents who share this aim and have chosen to approach it through home education.
  - The LA has a duty, under sections 437 of the Education Act 1996 to make arrangements to enable them to establish (so far as it is possible) the identities of children in their area who are not receiving a suitable education. This duty applies to all children of compulsory school age who are not on a school roll and do not appear to be receiving a suitable education other than being at school.
- 3.2 A further statutory duty exists, which requires the LA to serve a formal notice under section 437 of the Education Act 1996, if it appears that a child of compulsory school age is not receiving a suitable education. The formal notice requires the parent to satisfy the Local Authority that the child is in fact receiving suitable education. If the Local Authority does not accept the evidence and is not satisfied that the child is receiving a suitable education, it has the power to commence the statutory process for the issue of a School Attendance Order ('SAO') requiring the parent to register the child at a named school.
- 3.3 The LA has no legal power or duty to monitor home education on a routine basis although the LA will make enquiries if it is clear that a child is not receiving suitable education. The LA sees its role in relation to home education as part of its wider responsibilities, including safeguarding, to all the children in its area.
- 3.4 The LA has a duty under section 175(1) of the Education Act 2002 to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. These powers allow the LA to insist on seeing children in order to enquire about their welfare where there are grounds for concern. It does not give the LA power to enter the home of, or otherwise see children for the purpose of monitoring the provision of elective home education

#### Education Health and Care Plan

- 3.3 Parents wishing to begin home education with a child registered at a Special School must first seek the consent of the LA in order to withdraw the child from school. Consent may not unreasonably be withheld
  - Where a Special School receives notification form parent/s of their intention to EHE their child, the school must immediately notify the LA, within 3 days, and the child must remain on roll until further advice from the LA.

- 3.4 Where a child has an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) and a parent begins home education, the LA's statutory duty to undertake an annual review still continues. The review will include consideration of whether the EHCP is still appropriate and it may be possible to alter or even cease to maintain the EHCP, depending on the child's current circumstances and the provision being made. Should it be necessary for the EHCP to remain in force, parents continue to have responsibility for the education provided. However, the LA has a legal duty to ensure that the child's needs are met.
- 3.5 Where an EHCP exists, the child will be seen by a Senior Educational Psychologist separately to the EHE Adviser to ensure the parents get as much support and advice as required. Parents can at any time request an EHCP be withdrawn. This must be done in writing to the Special Educational Needs Service.
- 3.6 Should disagreement arise between the parents and the LA regarding the review of an assessment, the Special Educational Needs Tribunal may resolve it and the LA has a duty to inform the parent of their right to appeal.
- 3.5 The LA's statutory duty to undertake an Annual Review of Special Educational Needs continues for those who are home educated. This review includes assessing whether the EHCP is still appropriate, requires amendment or might cease to be maintained.

#### Safeguarding

- 3.8 The welfare and protection of all children, both those who attend school and those who are educated at home, is of paramount concern and the responsibility of the whole community. Section 175 of the Education Act 2002 imposes a duty on the Local Authority to make arrangements for ensuring that the functions conferred on them are exercised with a view to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of all children.
- 3.9 The Access and Engagement Service will follow Islington safeguarding procedures at all times and work with relevant agencies and individuals to proactively safeguard and promote the welfare of children and, in the event of any concerns about the welfare of a home educated child, initiate and follow established procedures. Children's services will work collaboratively to proactively safeguard and promote the welfare of children and in the event of any concerns about the welfare of a home educated child, initiate and follow through established safeguarding procedures, which will include sharing information with GPs, health visitors and other health professionals in the interest of a child or young person.
- 3.10 The Access and Engagement Service will liaise with Islington's Children's Social Care on those occasions where there is uncertainty about the welfare of a child or young person. The Access and Engagement Service will explain the reasons for any welfare concerns to the parents in accordance with referral procedure.

#### 4 The Role of the Local Authority

This section sets out the arrangements the LA will make to ensure it carries out its statutory duties for children educated by parents. The LA recognises that both the Children Act 2004 and the Every Child Matters outcomes apply to all children, including those who are being home educated. Services and support for home educating families will therefore take these into account.

#### The LA will:

- 4.1 Maintain a register of pupils being educated at home. This is a list of the children known to the LA only and therefore not an exhaustive list of children educated at home in Islington. The register will enable the LA to coordinate the children being home educated in their area in order to offer support and advice and an assessment of their education. This is in order to assess whether or not it appears that a child is receiving a suitable education.
- 4.2 Offer an early opportunity for parents to inform Islington Council if they believe they have been pressured by the school. In such situations, the LA will ask the school to take a pupil back. Where it transpires it is not parental choice to EHE, the case will be supported by an LA officer and school will be encouraged to accept the child back on their roll.
- 4.3 Provide an Elective Home Education (EHE) Adviser to liaise with parents. The role of the Adviser is to advise parents and children and to assess whether the education provided at home is suitable to the child's age, aptitude and ability. The Adviser will make contact with parents to offer support, seek information about the education being provided and work in partnership.
- 4.4 Send the EHE Guide for Parents to all parents who have elected to home school their children. The Guide will also contain details of other organisations that can support and advise parents enquiring about educating children at home or who are already home educators.
- 4.5 Organise the annual review for children with Education, Health and Care Plans.
- 4.6 If it appears to the LA that a child is not receiving an appropriate education, after offering support and allowing parents a reasonable amount of time to address concerns, issue a School Attendance Order requiring the child to attend a named school.
- 4.7 Provide details of the complaints procedure and deal with any complaints in a sensitive and timely manner.
- 4.8 Ensure the Adviser who has contact with home-educating families receives safeguarding and child protection training and has a full understanding of the essential difference, variation and diversity in home education practice, as compared to schools.
- 4.9 The Adviser is line managed by the School Improvement Service (SIS) and meets every fortnightly with the AES Manager to discuss all cases. There is also regular contact with the AES Manager on a case by case basis, as the need arises.

## 5 Access and Engagement Service Elective Home Education Procedure

- 5.1 On the day the LA is informed that a child is to be home educated, a risk assessment will be carried out using checks for records that may indicate a cause for concern. This will include information from School, Children's Social Care and Pupil Services records. The risk assessment will be clear, recorded and evaluated by the Principal Officer Safeguarding in Education.
- 5.2 The child's name, date of birth, previous school and address will be recorded on a register of children living in Islington who are being home educated.
- 5.3 The Access and Engagement Service will check with the child's previous school if they have any child protection concerns by requesting they complete a School Risk Assessment.
- 5.4 The Access and Engagement Service will check if the child is known to Children's Social Care at the start of EHE and thereafter on an annual basis.
- 5.5 Where a child is on a CIN or CP plan, the Access and Engagement Manager will liaise with the allocated Social Worker and Team Manager. The EHE Adviser will carry out a home visit within 4 weeks of registration to ensure the home education provision is suitable
- 5.6 A check on the child's siblings will be made.
- 5.7 An Access and Engagement Officer will carry out a home visit to parents or carers and offer information on elective home education and the relevant forms within three working days. During this visit the officer will see the home environment and will endeavour to see the child or children.
- 5.8 Within six weeks of registration, the Adviser will contact the parents to make enquiries to satisfy himself that the parents are discharging their statutory duty in educating their child/ren. The Adviser will endeavour to give 2 weeks' notice of any proposed meeting and will be flexible in making arrangements to suit the circumstances of the parents.
- 5.9 A home visit will be offered; however, parents may satisfy the authority in any of the following ways:
  - Meet with the Adviser at their home with or without their child.
  - Meet with the Adviser outside of their home with or without their child.
  - Send a letter or a report setting out their educational plans enclosing, if they wish, samples of their child's work.
  - Send a letter or a report from a reputable third party acceptable to them and the LA endorsing their educational plans.
  - Send in representative samples of their child's work.
  - Provide evidence in another appropriate form acceptable to the LA.
- 5.10 The LA will allow the parent up to 6 weeks, after a child is recorded on the Elective Home Education Register, to provide such information. Parents should contact the LA if they require an earlier visit.
- 5.11 If the LA become aware that a child may be home educated but has never been registered at school they will make contact with the family and follow the procedures above.

- 5.12 No visit will take place unless parents agree to one and an appointment has been made verbally or confirmed in writing.
- 5.13 The purpose of the first visit is to allow parents and children to get to know the LA Adviser and to offer support and to talk about their educational style. If a child has work he or she wishes to share, this would be welcomed. Parents may decide that they would rather send in a written report or use another acceptable way to evidence their educational provision. Whatever parents decide the Adviser will write a report and send them a copy. Copies of the report will also be sent to the AES Manager and SIS.
- 5.14 The LA has a power to see the child alone without the parent present in certain circumstances. The EHE Adviser may ask to see the child alone for example to obtain the child's wishes and feelings if it is not possible to do this in the parent's presence. Consideration should be made as to whether it is most appropriate for two people to be present when the child is seen alone. This is only likely to arise where there is no evidence that the child has received the education described by the parents, little or no evidence that the education meets the needs of the child or where there are doubts that the child is resident at the registration address and where these matters can only be resolved by talking to the child without their parents present. Although these circumstances will be rare, the power is available when there are safeguarding concerns and efforts to establish whether education is 'suitable' have failed.
- 5.15 The EHE report will include one of the following:
  - A statement that the education is satisfactory. The LA may make future enquiries and will always take the parent's wishes into account;
  - A statement that the education is not yet satisfactory as detailed in the report;
  - A letter stating that the education is unsatisfactory for reasons stated in the report.
- 5.15 If the EHE Adviser believes there is capacity to improve the home education provided the first time the education is judged as not yet unsatisfactory, she will discuss the concerns with the parents during the visit to suggest areas of improvement. If, following a period of advice and support and a further visit, (maximum period 6 weeks from date of Report) and all reasonable steps have been taken to try and resolve the situation, the education still remains unsatisfactory, the Adviser will inform the parent, AES and SIS. The LA may at this point take steps to ensure the education of the child/children through the use of a School Attendance Order (SAO) and by naming a local school.

Section 437(3) refers to the serving of school attendance orders:

"If (a) a parent on whom a notice has been served under sub section (1) fails to satisfy the local education authority, within the period specified in the notice, that the child is receiving suitable education, and (b) in the opinion of the authority it is expedient that the child should attend school, the authority shall serve on the parent an order (referred to in this Act as a "school attendance order"), in such form as may be prescribed, requiring him to cause the child to become a registered pupil at a school named in the order."

# 6 Post Statutory School Age (Youth & Careers Service)

- 6.1 All EHE young people who would have been in school year groups 10 and 11 receive advice from the Adviser around future pathways and post 16 opportunities.
- 6.2 Names and parent's contact details for all young people in year group 11 are provided to the Post 16 Participation Manager to offer parents and young people the opportunity to obtain support and information from The Progress Team.
- 6.3 The aim of this is to ensure that all EHE young people have the same opportunities as those young people who are registered and are attending school.

# 7 School Attendance Orders (SAO)

- 7.1 Where no other information suggests that the child is being suitably educated, because there is no information provided, and where the parents have refused to respond to the LA, the only conclusion the LA can reasonably come to, is that the home education does not appear to be suitable.
- 7.2 If it is not possible to persuade the parent to make suitable arrangements for their child's education, the parent will be notified in writing by AES that they need to locate a school place within 15 school days or satisfy the LA that they are providing an education. Failure to comply with this notice may result in AES beginning the process of issuing a SAO.
- 7.3 Upon expiry of the notice, the AES will write to the parent referring them to the notice and informing them of the authority's intention to serve an SAO. The AES will inform the parent of schools that are suitable for the child to attend. The parent will be advised that they have 15 days in which to take action or the AES will proceed to make an SAO. The parent will be provided with an explanation of the law regarding the issuing of an SAO.
- 7.4 If the 15 days expire without the parent registering their child at a school, then the authority should issue an SAO. Prior to this, a school with a vacancy should be identified and a letter written to the governing body, informing them of the impending School Attendance Order. The Order should specify which school the child should attend and inform the parent that they have 15 days to comply, from the date of the letter. A failure of the parent complying would result in prosecution for the breach of Section 443 of the Education Act 1996.
- 7.5 Almost all reports provided by the Adviser for Islington home educated children show the educational provision being provided is satisfactory and often excellent.
- 7.6 The LA will contact home educating families from time to time to ask for a report and offer support. Where there are special educational needs but no EHCP exists, the family will be offered more visits to get the support and advice they need.

#### **Pupil Services**

222 Upper Street, London, N1 1XR

PupilServices@islington.gov.uk 020 7527 3747

www.islington.gov.uk